Case No. S254938

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 31 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

Conservatorship of the Person and Estate of O. B.)))	Second District Court of Appeal No. B290805
)	
T.B., et al.,)	
W. Commission of the Commissio)	
Petitioners and Respondents,)	
VS.)	
)	
O.B.,)	,
)	
Objector and Appellant.)	
)	

Appeal from the Superior Court of California, County of Santa Barbara Honorable James Rigali, Judge (Santa Barbara County No. 17PR00325)

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

GERALD J. MILLER P.O. Box 543 Liberty Hill, TX 78642 (512) 778-4161 California State Bar No. 120030

Attorney for Objector, Appellant, and Petitioner O.B.

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

ISSUE PRESENTED

On appellate review in a conservatorship proceeding of a trial court order that must be based on clear and convincing evidence, is the reviewing court simply required to find substantial evidence to support the trial court's order or must it find substantial evidence from which the trial court could have made the necessary findings based on clear and convincing evidence?

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision affirming the conservatorship order in this case, because the appellate court used a demonstrably improper standard of review that failed to consider the heightened, "clear and convincing evidence" burden of proof applicable in conservatorship proceedings. As a result, the appellate court erroneously found that the evidence presented to the trial court was sufficient to establish that Petitioner, a 19 year old high functioning autistic woman, lacked the capacity and ability to care for herself. The appellate court did so despite the fact that the evidence at trial consisted almost entirely of the biased and self-serving testimony of Petitioner's mother, who had not resided with Petitioner for most of her life and sought to impose a conservatorship only after Petitioner achieved majority and only as a result of an educational dispute. The court also did so despite the fact that such testimony was contradicted by virtually every other witness, including several neutral

experts, who testified that Petitioner was a high-functioning, albeit autistic woman, for whom conservatorship was neither necessary nor appropriate.

As shown below, the Court of Appeal's use of an erroneous standard of review reflects a longstanding division of authority among the appellate courts as to whether the standard of review must consider the specific, heightened burden of proof applicable in conservatorship or other proceedings in determining whether the evidence presented to the trial court was sufficient to support the resulting judgment. Petitioner respectfully submits that the better reasoned line of authority holds that appellate review of the sufficiency of the evidence must bear in mind that heightened standard, not only as a matter of logic and necessity, but also as a means of fully implementing the legislative and judicial policies behind that standard, including those governing conservatorship proceedings. Petitioner also respectfully submits that such a result is compelled by the prior decisions of the United States Supreme Court and this Court in analogous situations and cases in which a heightened standard of proof applies. By contrast, the notion, embraced by the Court of Appeal in this case, that the "clear and convincing evidence" or other heightened standard applicable in the trial court simply "disappears" on appeal, and that any evidence that is "substantial" will support the judgment in such cases is illogical and based on outdated, antiquated authority, and does not reflect either those prior decisions or the policies and safeguards behind the applicable heightened standard.

As a result, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision in this case,

on grounds that it employed an erroneous standard of review. Instead, this Court should hold that the standard of review of the sufficiency of the evidence in conservatorship proceedings must consider whether that evidence was "clear and convincing," as required by the conservatorship statute. In addition, because the evidence presented in support of the requested conservatorship was sparse, biased, uninformed and ultimately unpersuasive, it was neither clear nor convincing, and was insufficient to justify the extraordinary step of depriving Petitioner of her basic right to care for herself and make her own decisions. Accordingly, this Court should both reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeal, and remand the matter with instructions to reverse the conservatorship order in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties, And The Respective Conservatorship Petitions.

Petitioner O.B. ("Petitioner") is the conservatee in this action, which was brought by her mother, T.B. ("Mother"), and her older sister, C.B. ("Sister") (collectively "Respondents"). L.K. is the grandmother of Mother, and the great grandmother of Petitioner. Petitioner, who was diagnosed with autism when she was twelve years old, resided with L.K. from the time that she was a small child until the granting of the conservatorship petition in this matter. At the time of the conservatorship proceedings, Petitioner was eighteen or nineteen years old, and was a senior at Cabrillo High School in

Lompoc, while Mother and Sister resided in a different school district in Orange County.

On August 1, 2017, respondents filed a petition for the appointment of a temporary conservatorship, which was issued on August 18, 2017. On September 11, 2017, L.K. filed a counter-petition to be appointed conservator of Petitioner, and later filed an amended petition, which added Petitioner's cousin (C.P.) as an additional proposed co-conservator.¹

B. The Educational Dispute, And The Trial Court's Preliminary Orders.

On September 14, 2017, Respondents filed a declaration by an education rights attorney (Knox) outlining allegations against the Lompoc Unified School District, where Petitioner attended classes. In response, the trial court denied Petitioner's request that she be permitted to hold her own educational rights, and appointed a guardian ad litem (Faulks) as to those rights. The court ordered that there be no changes to Petitioner's Individual Education Plan (IEP), that she not be removed from Santa Barbara County without the court's permission, and that she continue to attend Cabrillo High School. However, on October 30, 2017, the court ordered Knox and Faulks to "work together to have [Petitioner's] IEP modified," that Petitioner "shall not graduate from Cabrillo High School," and that she "shall not take World History at Cabrillo High School," which was the one remaining course required for her to graduate.

¹During the litigation, L.K. and C.P. took the position that no conservatorship was necessary, but that if one were appointed, it should be them rather than respondents.

C. The Granting Of The Conservatorship Petition, And The Resulting Appeal.

A contested hearing or trial on the conservatorship petitions was held on November 28, 2017, May 4, 2018, and May 29, 2018. At trial, Petitioner presented the testimony of her great grandmother L.K., as well as of several third party experts, including a psychologist and a probate investigator for Santa Barbara County. Each of them testified that Petitioner was in the higher range of the autism spectrum and was intelligent and high functioning; that she could perform certain basic tasks; and that a conservatorship was, therefore, inappropriate and unnecessary. (*See Conservatorship of O.B.* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 626, 629-30.) By contrast, the only evidence presented by Mother consisted of her own testimony, which stated, among other things, that Petitioner was incapable of performing daily tasks, including dressing and cooking for herself, and is too trusting of other people. (*See* 32 Cal.App.5th at pp. 630-31.)

On May 24, 2018, the court granted Mother's petition, and appointed her as conservator of Petitioner, over Petitioner's objection.

D. The Court Of Appeal's Reported Decision.

On February 26, 2019, the Court of Appeal (Second District, Division Six) issued its reported decision, in which it affirmed the trial court's conservatorship order. With respect to the parties' educational dispute, the court rejected Petitioner's argument that the probate court's jurisdiction was preempted by federal and state special education statutes, and that it lacked the ability to modify or alter the special education plan

court of Appeal held that sufficient evidence supported the establishment of a limited conservatorship. (*Id.* at pp. 633-35.) In doing so, the Court rejected Petitioner's argument that it was required to apply the same "clear and convincing evidence" standard as the trial court in determining whether "substantial evidence" supported the judgment. (Probate Code, section 1801, subdivision (e).) The Court stated as follows:

"The 'clear and convincing' standard . . . is for the edification and guidance of the trial court and not a standard for appellate review. "The sufficiency of evidence to establish a given fact, where the law requires proof of the fact to be clear and convincing, is primarily a question for the trial court to determine, and if there is substantial evidence to support its conclusion, the determination is not open to review on appeal." Thus, on appeal from a judgment required to be based upon clear and convincing evidence, 'the clear and convincing test disappears . . . [and] the usual rule of conflicting evidence is applied, giving full effect to the respondent's evidence, however slight, and disregarding the appellant's evidence, however strong."

32 Cal.App.5th at pp. 633-34, quoting *Sheila S. v. Superior Court* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 872, 880-81 (remaining citations omitted). The court also held that the trial court properly considered Petitioner's desires and possible less restrictive alternatives, and that the trial court did not improperly prejudge the case (*Id.* at pp. 635-36.)

On March 18, 2019, the Court of Appeal denied a petition for rehearing. On May 1, 2019, this Court granted review, but limited such review to whether the "clear and convincing" evidence standard applied to appellate review of the trial court's conservatorship order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

A. The Testimony Of The Proposed Conservators.³

1. The Testimony Of Petitioner's Mother.

Mother is a designer, and lives with her husband (Petitioner's father) and Petitioner's sisters in a five bedroom home in Silverado Canyon in Orange County. (1 R.T. pp. 80-81, 163, 177.) Mother lived with L.K. for several years when she was a teenager. (1 R.T. p. 78.)

At the time of the conservatorship proceedings, Petitioner resided with Mother's grandmother (Petitioner's great grandmother) L.K. in Lompoc, where she has lived since she was 4½ years old. (1 R.T. pp. 74-75.) Petitioner came to live with L.K. when Mother and her husband separated, and she took a job in Arizona. Although they later reconciled, Petitioner was doing so well at L.K.'s house that the family decided to keep her there while Mother took a political job in Florida in 2004, and while she and her husband lived in Texas. (1 R.T. pp. 75-76, 86-87, 89.)

²Inasmuch as review in this case is limited to the standard of review with respect to the issue of whether Petitioner "lacks the capacity to perform some, but not all, of the tasks necessary to provide properly for his or her own personal needs for physical health, food, clothing, or shelter, or to manage his or her own financial resources" (Probate Code section 1828.5, subdivision (c)), this brief will focus upon the evidence pertaining to such capacity. As a result, the brief will only briefly summarize the evidence regarding to the other primary contested issue, i.e. the educational dispute between the parties. Such a summary, however, may be found in the Court of Appeal's reported decision. (See 32 Cal.App.4th at pp. 630-31.)

³References to "R.T." are to the volume and page number of the two volume reporter's transcript in this appeal.

According to Mother, Petitioner is unable to clean or cook for herself, balance a checkbook, or handle a financial transaction, but is abic to shower and get dressed. (1 R.T. pp. 79-80, 166-67.) She also testified that Petitioner needs guidance in making routine decisions and assistance in performing daily tasks, including what clothes to wear and brushing her teeth and hair. (1 R.T. p. 191.) She also testified that Petitioner is prone to emotional outbursts and is too trusting of other people. (1 R.T. pp. 198-99, 208-09, 212, 277-78.) Mother filed the conservatorship petition to "basically protect her from the school and then long-term just protect her." (1 R.T. p. 162.) Mother intended to eventually move Petitioner to Orange County, where she, her husband, and her other daughters reside. (*Id.*)

2. The Testimony Of L.K. (Petitioner's Great Grandmother).

L.K. is the grandmother of Mother, and the great grandmother of Petitioner, and is 82 years old and in good health. (2 R.T. pp. 442-43, 455.) When Petitioner was a year and a half old, L.K. noticed a knot protruding from Petitioner's head, and Mother told her that she thought that Petitioner would have to be institutionalized. L.K. spoke with her husband, and told Mother that they would take care of Petitioner before that would happen. (2 R.T. p. 444.) Shortly thereafter, Petitioner came to live with L.K., and has resided with her ever since. (2 R.T. pp. 444-45.)

L.K. believes that Petitioner is going to be successful eventually, because she has a "fantastic" memory and is "clever" on the computer, and L.K. would continue to take care

of and love and guide Petitioner for as long as she can. L.K. does not believe that Petitioner needs a conservatorship, and that she can take care of herself "as much as any teenager can." (2 R.T. p. 463.) Petitioner does not cook on the stove, but can get cereal, warm up pizza, and make a quesadilla and bologna sandwich. (2 R.T. pp. 464-65.)

B. The Expert And Other Third Party Testimony.

1. The Testimony Of The Psychological Evaluator (Dr. Khoie).

Kathy Khoie, Ph.D. is a self-employed psychological evaluator for various regional centers, including Tri Counties Regional Center, and conducts evaluations for intellectual disabilities, including autism and conservatorships. (2 R.T. pp. 356-57.)

Khoie has conducted approximately 5,000 evaluations over the past ten years, including approximately 1,500 conservatorship evaluations. (2 R.T. p. 358.)

Khoie is familiar with Petitioner, and evaluated her in December 2017. (2 R.T. p. 361.) During that evaluation, Khoie considered Petitioner's intellectual, mental status, academic achievement, and adaptive functioning, reviewed records, and conducted clinical interviews with Petitioner and her great grandmother L.K.. (*Id.*) In particular, she reviewed approximately 2,000 pages of educational and academic materials pertaining to Petitioner, and met with Petitioner on December 11, 2017. (2 R.T. pp. 362-63.) During the evaluation, at which L.K. was present, Khoie obtained background information from Petitioner, administered various intelligence and behavior assessment tests, and received information regarding Petitioner's adaptive functioning. (2 R.T. pp.

Based on her review of information and her evaluation, Khoie did not believe that Petitioner was a candidate for conservatorship. (2 R.T. p. 366.) That opinion was based upon Petitioner's intellectual functioning level, which showed her to be of at least average intelligence, and high average in her nonverbal functioning, with the ability to talk about her likes and dislikes. (2 R.T. p. 367.) Khoie believed that Petitioner understood her condition and is trying to cope with her difficulties, and that she is coherent. Petitioner's mental status examination is within normal limits, and shows normal precognition with no impairment. (2 R.T. p. 368.)

In addition, Khoie testified that it is unusual for a conservatorship request to be based on autism, or to evaluate individuals with average intellectual functioning for conservatorship. Instead, most of her conservatorship evaluations have been based upon intellectual disability, which impairs the individual's perception of reality. (2 R.T. pp. 368-69.) Khoie believed that individuals with autism that required a conservatorship typically exhibited severe or significant difficulty with their adaptive functioning skills, including an inability to communicate or care for themselves or to receive training and experience, but that Petitioner did not show such an impairment. (2 R.T. p. 371.) She also testified that approximately 90% of the evaluations that she does through Tri Counties involve autistic individuals, and that she generally does not recommend a conservatorship where the sole issue is autism, and there is no intellectual impairment or

impairment in adaptive functioning skills. (2 R.T. p. 395.)

Khoic testified that Petitioner is able to shower, use the restroom, and groom herself independently, and has assisted in paying her medical bills. (2 R.T. p. 381.) She also testified that, although Petitioner presently needs assistance in handling money, with proper training she would be able to pay her bills and take care of her shopping or other financial decisions. (2 R.T. pp. 382, 393.)⁴

2. The Testimony Of The Probate Investigator (Donati).

Christopher Donati, an investigator with the Santa Barbara County Public Guardian's office, reviewed contacts, medical evaluations, and general information, met with Petitioner and L.K., and spoke with Mother. (2 R.T. pp. 420-21.) At her interview, Petitioner was well groomed, polite, and direct, and told Donati that she did not want to leave her current home, that she had always lived there, and that she did not want to move away from her great grandmother or other family members. (2 R.T. pp. 422-25.) Donati believed that the current investigation was unusual, because Petitioner was able to understand the concept of a conservatorship and what would be removed from her, and

⁴Although Khoie believed that a conservatorship was inappropriate, she believed that other protective measures were necessary for and available to Petitioner, including employment assistance and continued psychiatric treatment to help Petitioner regulate her emotions. (2 R.T. p. 369.) Khoie also believed that she should continue with medication under the care of her psychiatrist to help her control her emotions, that Petitioner could benefit from life and adaptive skills training offered by the regional center or school district, as well from a power of attorney for financial and other decision-making. (2 R.T. pp. 369-70, 391-92.)

because Petitioner was doing fairly well in the home, with no substantiated allegations of abuse or other issues. (2 R.T. pp. 425-26.)

As part of his evaluation, Donati reviewed declarations and reports regarding Petitioner's capacity, as well as the psychological evaluation conducted by Dr. Khoie. (2 R.T. pp. 426-27.) The reports conflicted as to whether Petitioner lacked capacity to make her own medical decisions, which caused Donati to be concerned as to the benefits of a conservatorship. (2 R.T. pp. 428-29.) Donati spoke with Mother and asked her what she was hoping to accomplish with a conservatorship, and understood that she was hoping to move Petitioner and have her attend a different educational institution where she (Mother) resides. (2 R.T. p. 429.) As a result, Donati believed that, unlike most instances in which he would apply for a conservatorship, there was no clear plan of action as to how the conservatorship would benefit Petitioner, or provide medical treatment that she was not already receiving. (2 R.T. pp. 429-30.) Accordingly, although Donati believed that Mother wanted the best for Petitioner, he believed that absent such evidence, there would be no current benefits to Petitioner from a conservatorship. (2 R.T. p. 430.)

3. The Testimony Of The Special Education Administrator (Butterfield).

Jarice Butterfield, a special education administrator with Santa Barbara County, testified that her agency works with the Lompoc School District and other county school districts to provide special education services to approximately 8,000 students. (1 R.T. pp. 229-23.) Butterfield testified that Petitioner was a high functioning person within the

autism spectrum, and was receiving social skills training through a speech and language specialist. (1 R.T. pp. 237, 248, 257.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION AFFIRMING THE CONSERVATORSHIP ORDER, BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL EMPLOYED AN ERRONEOUS STANDARD OF REVIEW THAT FAILED TO CONSIDER THE REQUIREMENT THAT THE NEED FOR CONSERVATORSHIP BE PROVEN BY "CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE."

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