SUPREME COURT FILED

S254938

JUL 2 3 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy CRC (8.25(5))

In Re Conservatorship of O.B.

T.B., et al.
Petitioners and Respondents,

ν.

O.B.
Objector and Appellant.

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS T.B. AND C.B.

Shaun P. Martin (SBN 158480)

smartin@sandiego.edu
University of San Diego School of Law
5998 Alcala Park, Warren Hall
San Diego, CA 92210
T: (619) 260-2347 | F: (619) 260-7933

Counsel for Respondents T.B. and C.B.

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

Argument

A. The Longstanding Rule Is That The Clear And Convincing Evidence Standard Applies In the Trial Court But Disappears On Appeal.

From the beginning, the rule routinely and repeatedly applied in California has been that a clear and convincing evidence standard is to be applied by a trial court, but not on appeal, in which review is limited to deciding whether substantial evidence exists to support the decision below. This Court has articulated and applied this principle for over a century and a half.

The cases on this point are legion, each of which were decided by this Court unanimously and without critique. For a sample of the cases decided by this Court to this effect in its first century, see, e.g., Cox v. Delmas (1893) 99 Cal. 104, 124 (reviewing disputed findings of fact by trial court for substantial evidence); Adair v. White (1893) 4 Cal. Unrep. 261, 262 ("There was a sharp conflict of evidence upon both of these questions, and, under the well-established rule, the finding of the trial court thereon must be held conclusive. It is only where there is no substantial evidence in support of a finding that this

court can disregard the finding of the trial court."); Adams v. Burbank (1894) 103 Cal. 646, 648-49 ("As to the disputed facts, concerning which there was a substantial conflict in the testimony, it may be said that, in support of the verdict in favor of the plaintiff, we are authorized to assume as proven the facts which there is substantial evidence to uphold."); Casey v. Leggett (1899) 125 Cal. 664, 670 ("We have not the power to disturb a finding of fact if there is substantial evidence to support it."); see also Thornton v. Petersen (1891) 3 Cal. Unrep. 415, 415-16 ("This appeal is from the judgment. ... We have carefully examined the record, and are satisfied that there is abundant evidence to sustain all the findings. It is really an attempt to have this court weigh the evidence The appeal ought not to have been taken.").

This Court made clear in even its earliest decisions that appellate review is properly limited to deciding whether substantial evidence exists to support the judgment below, regardless of the substantive burden of proof applied in the trial court. For example, in *Capelli v. Dondero* (1899) 123 Cal. 324, this Court noted that "[i]t is

true, as appellants contend, that evidence warranting the reformation of a deed must be clear and convincing [b]ut these are rules for the government of the trial court, and are not controlling in this court where findings find support in the evidence." Id. at 328. Similarly, in Meeker v. Shuster (1897) 5 Cal. Unrep. 578, this Court noted that while "the testimony must be [] clear and convincing whether the evidence is of such character and strenth [sic] as to produce conviction is a question for the trial court to determine." Id. at 582. This Court reiterated and applied this same principle in a plethora of other cases decided during the beginning of appellate review in this state. See, e.g., Hutchinson v. Ainsworth (1887) 73 Cal. 452, 457-58 (holding that a clear and convincing evidence standard is only for the trial court, and is not applied on appellate review); Ward v. Waterman (1890) 85 Cal. 488, 502-04 (same); DeJarnatt v. Cooper (1881) 59 Cal. 703, 706 (same).

This same principle was routinely applied by this Court during the next century as well. *See, e.g., Couts v. Winston* (1908) 153 Cal. 686, 688-89 ("Whether or not the evidence offered to change the

ostensible character of the instrument is clear and convincing is a question for the trial court. In such cases, as in others, the determination of that court in favor of either party upon conflicting or contradictory evidence is not open to review in this court."); Steinberger v. Young (1917) 175 Cal. 81, 84-85 ("The sufficiency of the evidence to establish a given fact, even where the law requires proof of the fact to be clear and convincing, is primarily a question for the trial court, and, if there be substantial evidence to support the conclusion reached below, the finding is not open to review on appeal."); Steiner v. Amsel (1941) 18 Cal.2d 48, 54 ("[W]hether the evidence was sufficiently convincing . . . was a question primarily addressed to the trial court, and its determination thereon should be deemed conclusive."); Stromerson v. Averill (1943) 22 Cal.2d 808, 815 ("The sufficiency of evidence to establish a given fact, where the law requires proof of the fact to be clear and convincing, is primarily a question for the trial court to determine, and if there is substantial evidence to support its conclusion, the determination is not open to review on appeal."); National Auto & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Industrial Acc.

Comm'n (1949) 34 Cal.2d 20, 25 (same); Crail v. Blakely (1973) 8 Cal.3d 744, 750 ("It is true that the trial court reasonably could have concluded that Mrs. Maris' testimony failed to satisfy the 'clear and convincing' standard referred to above. That standard was adopted, however, for the edification and guidance of the trial court, and was not intended as a standard for appellate review.")

The principle that limits appellate review to substantial evidence regardless of the substantive burden in the trial court has been sufficiently firmly entrenched in California to be expressed in every edition of Witkin's seminal treatise, from the first (in 1954) to the latest (in 2008). *See* 3 B. Witkin, *Cal. Procedure* (1954) Appeal, § 84, pp. 2246-47. As the Fifth Edition describes this longstanding rule:

In a few situations, the law requires that a party produce more than an ordinary preponderance; he or she must establish a fact by 'clear and convincing evidence.' But the requirement applies only in the trial court. The judge may reject a showing as not measuring up to the standard, but, if the judge decides in favor of the party with this heavy burden, the clear and convincing test disappears. On appeal, the usual rule of conflicting evidence is applied, giving full effect to the respondent's evidence, however slight, and disregarding the appellant's evidence, however strong.

9 B. Witkin, *Cal. Procedure* (2008) Appeal, § 371, pp. 428-29 (citations omitted).

It is true, of course, that even a longstanding practice that no longer reflects contemporary reality may be overruled by this Court. Raffaelli v. Committee of Bar Examiners (1972) 7 Cal.3d 288, 302; but see infra (discussing the implications of such history on the assessment of Legislative intent). But considerations of stare decisis are particularly weighty when, as here, a particular judicial view has prevailed for a substantial period of time. Cf. Darcie v. Darcie (1942) 49 Cal.App.2d 491, 495 ("That case has been accepted by the legal profession as the correct rule for over twenty-one years. A question once deliberately examined and decided should be considered settled and closed to further arguments. Courts are slow to interfere with a principle announced by a decision and may uphold it even though they would decide otherwise, were the question a new one.").

At a minimum, the fact that appellate review has been limited by this Court to an assessment of substantial evidence for over a century and a half, with no apparent manifest injustice, weighs strongly against a conclusion that such a practice is inconsistent with fundamental fairness or generates significant untoward results.

B. Appellate Review For Substantial Evidence Is Robust.

Rather than attempt to reweigh the evidence introduced at trial to ascertain whether it appears "clear and convincing" on a cold record, the existing practice of appellate review instead decides whether the evidence in support of the judgment below is substantial. Such review, at least in California, is far from hollow, and is replete with substantive content.

As this Court has repeatedly explained, "substantial evidence" sufficient to affirm the findings of fact below requires the introduction of evidence that is "of ponderable legal significance . . . reasonable in nature, credible, and of solid value." Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 34 Cal.4th 319, 328; In Re Jasmon O. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 398, 404; Osefit v. Trustees of Cal. State Univ. & Colleges

(1978) 21 Cal.3d 763, 773 n.9. These required characteristics are meaningful. The evidence necessary to support the decision below must be credible, reasonable, and solid; otherwise, the judgment will be reversed.

Evidence that is speculative does not qualify as substantial. Chutuck v. Southern California Gas Co. (1933) 218 Cal. 395, 400. Nor may substantial evidence be found based upon "suspicion, surmise, implications or plainly incredible evidence." George Arakelian Farms, Inc. v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd. (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1279, 1293.

There is, in short, a meaningful and substantive standard that is currently applied on appeal to a trial court's findings of fact. As this Court has recently noted, "substantial evidence is a deferential standard, but it is not toothless." *In re I.C.* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 869, 892. When the appellate tribunal determines that the evidence in support of a judgment is not credible, solid or reasonable, the decision below will be reversed. *See, e.g., id.* at 892-96 (concluding unanimously that the trial court's "commendably thorough" finding of parental abuse was

nonetheless not supported by substantial evidence); *In Re Jasmine G*. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 282, 284-93 (finding no substantial evidence to separate child from mother).

A review of the past century of California jurisprudence does not readily reveal any cases in which the existing standard of appellate review for substantial evidence has resulted in the affirmance of a manifestly unjust decision below. Nor does Petitioner's Opening Brief reveal any cases in which a trial court erred in a manner that would have been reversed had the Court of Appeal applied a clear and convincing standard rather than reviewed for substantial evidence, The ability of existing substantial evidence review to robustly correct existing trial court errors thus militates against a change in that longstanding, apparently effective standard.

C. Substantial Evidence Review Follows From the Respective Competence and Capacity of Trial and Appellate Tribunals.

The adoption and implementation of substantial evidence review has not only been a longstanding and effective practice, but also flows naturally from the nature and limitations of appellate decision making. Trial courts, confronted by live witnesses, can make effective credibility determinations. Appellate courts, which review only a stale paper record, have no such ability. Similarly, trial courts can decide the relative strength of admitted evidence. Trial courts can resolve evidentiary conflicts. Trial courts can weigh evidence. By contrast, appellate tribunals can do *none* of these things -- or at least cannot do them effectively.

These limitations of appellate review are expressly why this Court has adopted and applied the "substantial evidence" standard on appeal, even in cases in which the trial court was bound to decide whether clear and convincing evidence exists. Only trial courts can effectively decide whether evidence is "clear," as what may be

unclear to an appellate tribunal quickly reviewing a paper transcript may nonetheless be crystal clear to a judge who has personally listened to the evidence at trial for weeks or months. Similarly, only trial courts can effectively make credibility decisions, and thereby ascertain whether a given piece of evidence is "convincing" or, instead, worthy of discredit.

This Court has repeatedly stated that the unique ability of trial courts to decide credibility and weigh competing evidence is why a clear and convincing evidence standard is for the direction of the trial court but not the Court of Appeal. As this Court explained as early as 1890, "[i]t is apparent that the mind to which the evidence is to be 'clear and convincing' is the mind of the court below – the court which heard the evidence, and is especially charged with the duty of passing upon the credibility of the witnesses – a duty which is not imposed upon, and a right which is not vested in, this court." Ward v. Waterman (1890) 85 Cal. 488, 503. When the trial court has been presented with substantial evidence – i.e., evidence that is solid, reasonable, creditable and non-speculative — and finds, as a factual

matter, that this evidence is both clear and convincing, an appellate tribunal cannot reverse that decision with a contrary finding, "because the right to pass upon the credibility of witnesses is not vested in this court" and "[t]he credibility and appearance of the witnesses would necessarily have much to do with determining the weight to be given to this evidence, and, consequently, its sufficiency." *Id.* at 504. So the clear and convincing evidence standard applies in the trial court, but not on appeal. *Id.*

Trial courts weigh evidence, ascertain credibility, and are able to view the demeanor and other characteristics of the witnesses. When a trial court has heard this evidence and concludes, based upon all of the factors before it, that such evidence is clearly persuasive, appellate tribunals cannot effectively (or accurately) conclude otherwise. "The cold record cannot give the look or manner of the witnesses; their hesitations, their doubts, their variations of language, their precipitancy, their calmness or consideration. A witness may convince all who hear him testify that he is disingenuous and untruthful, and yet his testimony, when read, may convey a most favorable impression."

Maslow v. Maslow (1953) 117 Cal.App.2d 237, 243; see also Cummings v. Kendall (1940) 41 Cal.App.2d 549, 555 ("There are many factors aiding in a reasonable conclusion which are presented to the trier of facts in the first instance and not available to one going over the cold record. There is what might be called the 'feel' of the case. This embraces a consideration of the witnesses, the manner in which they testify and their general attitude in the courtroom.").

The institutional limitations on the ability of appellate tribunals to determine credibility, to weigh competing evidence, and to decide whether evidence is "clear" or "convincing" is precisely why these tribunals do not review for such qualities, and instead limit their inquiry to whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's determinations. *DeJarnatt v. Cooper* (1881) 59 Cal. 703, 706. "The learned judge of the lower court having seen and heard the witnesses and found the fact, under the elementary rule we cannot disturb the finding if there is any substantial evidence to support it." *Blair v. Squire* (1899) 6 Cal.Unrep. 350, 352. Even when an appellate court, on a cold record, might come to a different conclusion, and think that

the evidence as a whole appears neither clear nor convincing, as a matter of institutional competence, the contrary determination of the trial court rightly takes precedence. As this Court cogently explained in a hotly contested case over a century ago:

If we had to pass upon it in the first instance, we are not at all certain that we would find as did the judge of the court below. But . . . the judge of the court below has found it true. As he saw and heard the witnesses, he was more capable of judging of the credit to be given to their testimony than we could possibly be by examining the record. . . . [W]e have not the power to disturb a finding of fact if there is substantial evidence to support it. Unlike the court below when trying the cause without a jury, we possess none of the functions of the jury, and therefore cannot substitute our opinion in the place of his, and say which testimony is true and which is false.

Casey v. Leggett (1899) 125 Cal. 664, 670.

What is true for a single piece of evidence in isolation is exponentially true where -- as in virtually every case (including this one) -- the evidence is in conflict. It is blackletter law that, on appeal, conflicts in the evidence are viewed in favor of the judgment below, as well as all reasonable inferences thereupon. *Crawford v. Southern Pac. Co.* (1935) 3 Cal.2d 427, 429. To do otherwise would

impermissibly require the appellate court to weigh the strength of conflicting evidence despite its inability to view the witnesses, judge credibility, or perform all the other tasks uniquely suited to the trial judge. *Bancroft-Whitney Co. v. McHugh* (1913) 166 Cal. 140, 142.

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